
 

 

 
 

AGENDA  
 
Meeting: Children's Select Committee 

Place: Kennet Room - County Hall, Trowbridge BA14 8JN 

Date: Tuesday 29 April 2014 

Time: 2.00 pm 

 

 
Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Roger Bishton, of Democratic Services, 
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 713035 or email 
roger.bishton@wiltshire.gov.uk 
  
Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225) 713114/713115. 
 
This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s 
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  
 
 
Membership: 

Cllr Pat Aves 
Cllr Mary Champion 
Cllr Mary Douglas 
Cllr Sue Evans 
Cllr Jon Hubbard (Chairman) 
Cllr Chris Hurst 
Cllr Simon Jacobs 
 

Cllr Jacqui Lay (Vice Chairman) 
Cllr Bill Moss 
Cllr Helen Osborn 
Cllr Sheila Parker 
Cllr Ricky Rogers 
Cllr Philip Whalley 
 

 

Substitutes: 
Cllr Desna Allen 
Cllr Chuck Berry 
Cllr Nick Blakemore 
Cllr Terry Chivers 
Cllr Christine Crisp 
Cllr Andrew Davis 
Cllr Stewart Dobson 

Cllr Dennis Drewett 
Cllr Russell Hawker 
Cllr David Jenkins 
Cllr Dr Helena McKeown 
Cllr Jeff Osborn 
Cllr John Walsh 

 

Non-Elected Voting Members: 
Mr Ken Brough Parent Governor Representative (Primary) 
Rev Alice Kemp Parent Governor Representative (SEN) 
Mrs Lynne Swainston Bristol Diocesan Church of England Representative 
Dr Mike Thompson Clifton Diocesan RC Representative 

 

Non-Elected Non-Voting Members: 
Miss Sarah Busby Secondary Schools Headteacher Representative 



 

 

Miss Tracy Cornelius Primary Schools Headteacher Representative 
Mrs Di Dale Further Education Representative 
Mr John Hawkins School Teacher Representative 
Mr Kaylum House Children & Young People's Representative 

 



 

 

 
 

 PART I 

 Items to be considered while the meeting is open to the public 
 

1   Apologies  

2   Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 8) 

 To approve and sign the minutes of the previous meeting held on 25 March 
2014. (Copy attached) 

3   Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by 
the Standards Committee. 
 

4   Chairman's Announcements  

5   Public Participation  

 The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public. 
 
Statements 
 
If you would like to make a statement at this meeting on any item on this 
agenda, please register to do so at least 10 minutes prior to the meeting. Up to 
3 speakers are permitted to speak for up to 3 minutes each on any agenda item.  
Please contact the officer named above for any further clarification. 
 
Questions  
 
To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the 
Council received in accordance with the constitution. Those wishing to ask 
questions are required to give notice of any such questions in writing to the 
officer named above no later than 5pm on Tuesday 22 April 2014.  Please 
contact the officer named on the first page of this agenda for further advice.  
Questions may be asked without notice if the Chairman decides that the matter 
is urgent. 
 
Details of any questions received will be circulated to Committee members prior 
to the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website. 

6   Final Report of the Positive Leisure-time Activities for Young People Task 
Group (Pages 9 - 54) 

 A report presenting the conclusions and recommendations of the Positive 
Leisure-time Activities for Young People Task Group is attached for 
endorsement. 



 

 

 
This Task Group was established by this Select Committee at its meeting on 28 
January 2014 and endorsed by the Overview & Scrutiny Management 
Committee on 5 February 2014. 
 
Cllr Jon Hubbard, Chairman of the Task Group will present the report. 
 
If endorsed, this report will be referred to Cabinet who will take the final decision 
regarding the options at an extraordinary meeting on 15 May 2014.  

7   Urgent Items  

 Any other items of business which the Chairman agrees to consider as a matter 
of urgency. 

8   Date of Next Meeting  

 To note that the next scheduled meeting will be held on Tuesday 3 June 2014, 
to be held in the Kennet Room at County Hall, Trowbridge, starting at 10.30am. 

 PART II 

 Items during whose consideration it is recommended that the public 
should be excluded because of the likelihood that exempt information 

would be disclosed 
 

None 

 



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

CHILDREN'S SELECT COMMITTEE 
 
 
 

 
DRAFT MINUTES OF THE CHILDREN'S SELECT COMMITTEE MEETING HELD 
ON 25 MARCH 2014 AT KENNET ROOM - COUNTY HALL, TROWBRIDGE BA14 
8JN. 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr Pat Aves, Miss Sarah Busby, Cllr Mary Champion, Cornelius, Cllr Andrew Davis 
(Substitute), Cllr Sue Evans, Mr J Hawkins, Cllr Jon Hubbard (Chairman), Kim Hunte, 
Cllr Chris Hurst, Cllr Simon Jacobs, Rev. A Kemp, Cllr Jacqui Lay (Vice Chairman), 
Cllr Bill Moss, Cllr Helen Osborn, Cllr Ricky Rogers, Swainston, Dr M Thompson and 
Cllr Philip Whalley 
 
Also  Present: 
 
Cllr Richard Gamble, Cllr Alan MacRae and Cllr Laura Mayes 
 
  

 
14 Apologies 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Mr Ken Brough, Cllr Mary Douglas, 
who was substituted by Cllr Andrew Davis, Mr Kaylum House and Cllr Sheila 
Parker.    
 

15 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
Resolved: 
 
To approve and sign the minutes of the previous meeting held on 28 
January 2014 as a true record. 
 

16 Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest made at the meeting. 
 

17 Chairman's Announcements 
 
The Chairman introduced and welcomed:- 
 

• Mrs Lynne Swainston, from the Bristol Church of England Diocese as the 
Committee’s new Church of England diocesan representative, and 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

• Miss Tracy Cornelius, Headteacher of Kington St Michael Primary 
School, as the Committee’s new Primary Headteacher representative. 

 
 
He reported that following on from the Committee’s request at its December 
2013 meeting, the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services together with himself 
had sent a jointly signed letter to the Secretary of State for Education asking 
that the Parent Governor Representatives Regulations 2001 be amended.  The 
current regulations only allowed parent governors from maintained schools to 
be appointed as parent governor representatives on overview and scrutiny 
committees. This had caused difficulties as most secondary schools were now 
academies or free schools.  The Secretary of State had now replied stating that: 
 
(1) The Department for Education’s powers were limited to requiring 

education committees to appoint parent governor representatives from 
maintained schools and the primary legislation did not allow for the 
introduction of legislation requiring governors to be appointed from 
academy or free schools. 

 
(2) However, the Localism Act 2011 permitted education committees to 

appoint parent governor representatives from academy or free schools, if 
they wished to do so.  
 

The Chairman stated that he had asked officers to start the process in order to 
recruit a secondary school parent governor.   
 

18 Public Participation 
 
There were no members of the public present or councillors’ questions. 
 
 

19 Apprenticeships in Wiltshire 
 
Consideration was given to a joint report by the Associate Director, 
Commissioning, Performance & School Effectiveness and the Associate 
Director, Economic Development & Planning which described: 
 

• What apprenticeships were 
 

• The Council’s role in supporting young people and employers to 
provide/take up apprenticeships, including those with SEND 
 

• The number of apprenticeships currently in place in Wiltshire 
 

• Details of the Council’s own apprenticeships programme as an employer. 
 

The Employment & Skills Manager, Economic Development & Planning 
explained work underway to maximise apprenticeship growth in Wiltshire.  She 

Page 2



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

stated that the number of apprenticeship starts had risen from 1,620 in 2005/06 
to 5,110 in 2012/13. There had been 1,080 apprenticeship starts in the first 
quarter of 2013/14.    Members were pleased to note, in particular, the steady 
growth in apprenticeship starts by learners with learning difficulties and 
disabilities (LDD); in this category the percentage of apprenticeship starts aged 
16-18 had risen from 11.3% in 2010/11 to 14.1% in 2012/13. 
 
Much valuable work was being undertaken with schools to bring apprenticeship 
schemes and traineeships to the attention of students. It was noted that 
traineeships had been introduced in 2013 for young people aged 16-24 who 
were aiming to look for work within a period of six months.  It was explained that 
traineeships consisted of a high quality work placement and a focused period of 
work preparation training.  They were also flexible to include other elements 
such as vocational/industry specific content and qualifications. 

  
The Council had been encouraging the growth of apprenticeship schemes 
within the County through its Apprenticeship Campaign and had been 
persuading companies of the business benefits of investing in school and 
college leavers to meet their recruitment needs.  Members requested that they 
be provided with a full list of employers across Wiltshire who were participating 
in apprenticeship schemes in order to see how evenly spread they were across 
the County. 
 
Members noted that a new apprenticeship wage rate had recently been 
approved for lower level apprenticeships and that new jobs advertised as 
apprenticeship posts would be paid at the bottom of Grade A, currently £6.45 
per hour which was well above the apprenticeship national minimum wage of 
£2.65.   
 
After further discussion, 
 
Resolved: 
 
1. To note the progress made on Apprenticeships in Wiltshire, the 

activity in place to maximise and sustain this improvement, the 

influence of national policy and funding arrangements, the recent key 

announcements affecting this area, and to thank the officers for the 

comprehensive report and briefing provided and commend their 

determination to increase the  employment opportunities available 

for young people in Wiltshire. 

 

2. To request that a list of employers offering apprenticeships in 

Wiltshire is circulated to the Committee (unless this is commercially 

sensitive). 

 

Page 3



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

3. To request figures showing the retention rates of apprentices in 

Wiltshire and the percentage who go on to further employment or 

training with the same company once their apprenticeships are 

complete. 

 

4. To request a report in October 2014 providing further details on what 

steps the Council could take to include a commitment to providing 

employment and training opportunities for young people in its 

assessment criteria when awarding contracts to private companies. 

To include details of other local authorities and public bodies who do 

use this criterium when awarding contracts. 

 

5. To recommend that the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services 

makes representations to Cabinet regarding how the Council can 

increase its use of apprentices, and reports back to the Committee. 

  
 

20 Final Report of the Positive Leisure Activities for Young People Task 
Group 
 
The Chairman referred to the update report which had been circulated and 
informed the meeting that the Committee had expected to receive the Task 
Group’s final report at that meeting because Cabinet had originally planned to 
take its final decision on 22 April 2014. 
 
Cabinet had now decided to take its final decision at an extraordinary meeting 
to be held on 15 May 2014.  Accordingly, it was therefore proposed to hold an 
extraordinary meeting of this Select Committee to consider the Task Group’s 
final report.  This would give the Task Group more time to consider further 
evidence and undertake a more in-depth scrutiny review in detail.  If endorsed, 
the Task Group’s final report would then be referred to Cabinet for consideration 
on 15 May 2014. 
 
Resolved: 
 
(1) To note the progress update. 

 
(2) To agree that, following an extension to the original Cabinet 

timescale, the Task Group’s review should be extended and an 
extraordinary meeting of the Committee should be held on Thursday 
1 May 2014 to consider its final report, prior to referral to the Cabinet 
Member. 
 

(NOTE: Subsequent to this meeting, it was agreed that this 
extraordinary meeting be held on Tuesday 29 April 2014, starting at 
2.00pm, due to unforeseen availabilities.) 

Page 4



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

   
 

21 Executive Response: Further Education in the Salisbury Area - 18 Month 
Progress Review 
 
The Committee received a report by the Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Services setting out her response to a report of the Further Education in the 
Salisbury Area Task Group which was received by the Committee on 28 
January 2014.  This presented the results of a progress review undertaken by 
the Task Group 18 months after its final report had been endorsed.  
 
Resolved: 

 

To note the Executive Response to the Further Education in the Salisbury 

Area - 18 Month Progress Review. 

 
 

22 Non-Maintained Schools and the Local Authority 
 
The Chairman reminded the Committee that at its previous meeting, some 
Members had expressed some concern about the level of Council involvement 
with non-maintained schools in Wiltshire.   
 
The Associate Director, Commissioning, Performance & School Effectiveness 
explained that the only responsibility maintained by the Local Authority in 
respect of private schools was safeguarding.  However, there were a number of 
examples where some private schools worked in partnership with local 
authorities, including the joint provision of some academies, such as Wellington 
Academy, Ludgershall and Clarendon College, Trowbridge.     
 
 
Resolved: 
 
To note the verbal report provided. 

 
 

23 Task Group Update 
 
The Select Committee received an update on the activity of the following Task 
Groups:- 
 

• Education for 16-19s Task Group 
 

• Safeguarding Children and Young People Task Group 
 

• Schools and the Local Authority Task Group 
 

Page 5



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

• SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disabilities) Task Group 
 

• Positive Leisure Time Activities for Young People Task group  
 

Resolved: 
 
(1) To note the update on Task Group activity provided. 

 

(2) To appoint Ken Brough to the Schools and the Local Authority Task 

Group. 

 

 
 

24 Forward Work Programme 
 
The Committee received a document showing the relevant items from the 
overview and scrutiny forward work programme. 
 
Resolved: 
 
To note the contents of the Forward Work Programme for this Committee. 
 
 
 

25 Coalition Update - Changes from the Department for Education 
 
The Committee received and noted a report by Carolyn Godfrey, Corporate 
Director, on developments relating to children’s services arising from the 
Coalition Government. 
 
Carolyn Godfrey drew attention to advice recently published by Central 
Government to help schools deliver free school lunches to all infant children.  It 
was noted that each small school (up to 150 pupils) would be allocated a 
minimum of £3,000 funding to extend or improve kitchen facilities and address 
transitional costs in addition to the revenue funding. 
 
During discussion, Members recognised the problems of persuading eligible 
parents to apply for free school meals and considered that more work needed to 
be undertaken to overcome this problem.  It was noted that a cashless system 
of payment for free school meals was being introduced in a number of schools 
which would anonymise those pupils receiving free school meals.       
 
Resolved: 
 
To note the update provided. 
 
 

Page 6



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

26 Date of Next Meeting 
 
Resolved: 
 
(1) To note that the next scheduled meeting of the Select Committee 

would be held on Tuesday 3 June 2014 in the Kennet room at 
County Hall, Trowbridge, starting at 10.30am. 

 
(2) To hold an extraordinary meeting of the Select Committee on 

Thursday 1 May 2014 at 10.30am to consider the final report of the 
Positive Leisure Activities for Young People Task Group. 
 
(Note:  Subsequent to this meeting, it was agreed to hold this 
extraordinary meeting on Tuesday 29 April 2014 at County Hall, 
Trowbridge, starting at 2.00pm.)   

 
27 Urgent Items 

 
There were no urgent items of business. 
 

 
(Duration of meeting:  10.50 am - 1.00 pm) 

 
 
 

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Roger Bishton, of Democratic 
Services, direct line 01225 713035, e-mail roger.bishton@wiltshire.gov.uk 

 
Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115 

 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



 

 

 

Wiltshire Council         
 
Children’s Select Committee 
 
29 April 2014  
 

 
 

Final Report of the Positive Leisure Time Activities  
for Young People Task Group 

 
 
Purpose 
 

1. To present the conclusions and recommendations of the Positive Leisure 
Time Activities for Young People Task Group for endorsement.  
 

Background 
 

2. On 21 January Cabinet considered a part 2 report proposing that it reviews 
how it meets its statutory duty to secure young people aged 13-19 access to 
sufficient positive leisure-time activities that improve their wellbeing, and 
sufficient facilities for such activities. The report sets out a range of options, 
with a provisional recommendation to develop a community led approach, 
subject to formal consultation. The Cabinet report (amended to be appropriate 
for a part 1 meeting) is attached at Appendix 1. 

 
3. The report stated that the proposals should be robustly scrutinised by the 

Children’s Select Committee. On 28 January the Committee established a 
task group to respond to the consultation and this was endorsed by the O&S 
Management Committee on 5 February 2014. Responsibility was delegated to 
the Children’s Select Committee chairman and vice-chairman for making the 
necessary arrangements. Following established protocol, all non-executive 
members were invited to express an interest in sitting on the task group. The 
chairman and vice-chairman then selected the membership to as far as 
possible achieve a geographical and political balance.  

 
4. It should be noted that the report to Cabinet on 21 January referred to a 

targeted reduction to the Integrated Youth Service 2014/15 budget of 
£500,000. However, when the 2014/15 budget was considered by Full Council 
on 4 February it was agreed that this reduction would be reduced to £250,000 
through savings found in other areas.  

 
5. The final decision on which option will be adopted will be taken by Cabinet on 

for 15 May 2014. 
 
Methodology 
 

6. The Task Group comprised the following membership: 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 

Mr Kaylum House (Young People’s rep on the Children’s Select Committee) 
Cllr Jon Hubbard (Chairman) 
Cllr George Jeans 
Cllr Jacqui Lay 
Cllr Howard Marshall 
Cllr Pip Ridout 

 
7. From the outset, the Task Group sought to work towards the following 

outcomes: 
 
a) Providing the positive leisure time activities that young people want (in line 

with Section 507B of the Education Act 1996) 
b) Providing young people with opportunities to develop 
c) Ensuring all young people are aware of the activities available in their 

area 
d) Ensuring access to youth work and positive leisure time activities for all 

young people, including those from groups vulnerable to exclusion 
e) Ensuring safe accessibility to safeguarding and early intervention services 
f) Exploring the unintended consequences of any proposals 
g) Ensuring our youth workers have the appropriate skills and training 
h) Exploring opportunities for partnership working and other funding 

opportunities 
 

8. The Task Group met on six occasions and received written and verbal 
evidence from the following witnesses: 

 

• Cabinet Member for Children’s Services 

• Portfolio Holder for Schools, Skills and Youth 

• Cabinet Member for Campuses, Area Boards, Libraries, Leisure and 
Flooding 

• Portfolio Holder for Area Boards 

• Chairman of Royal Wootton Bassett Area Board 

• Representatives from Community First and Youth Action Wiltshire 

• 11 youth workers currently employed by Wiltshire Council, from a variety 
of posts and locations 

• Associate Director, Children’s Social Care and Independent Youth Service 

• Head of Service: Early Intervention, Youth & Prevention 

• Lead Commissioner, Commissioning, Performance and School 
Effectiveness 

• Project Manager, Transformation Team 
 

9. The Task Group also held a focus group session with 15 young people from 
across Wiltshire. These included service-users and non-service-users, and 
representatives of the council’s disabled young people group, Lesbian Gay 
Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT) group, Young Commissioners, Wiltshire 
Assembly of Youth (WAY) and the Children in Care Council. Members 
interviewed the young people about what was important to them in terms of 
youth work and activities.  
 

Page 10



 

 

 

10. The task group wish to express their gratitude to all of the witnesses for 
making themselves available to assist with this overview and scrutiny review. 

 
Findings 
 
General comments 
 

11. It was reported to Cabinet on 21 January that only 8 percent of the 13-19 
population access the council’s Youth Development Service1. The task group 
questions whether this figure is accurate as it reflects only those young people 
who are formally registered with a council-run youth centre. The task group 
has received evidence suggesting that there are some young people who 
engage with the Youth Development Service and are not formally registered, 
for example those engaging with street-based youth work, skate park 
committees and outreach work in schools. The average estimate of the youth 
workers interviewed was that a further 12 percent of young people had some 
unrecorded contact with the service. The 8 percent figure quoted also refers 
to a period during exam season and school summer holidays when youth 
clubs are traditionally at their quietest. These omissions may have led to a 
pessimistic picture of the current reach of the youth service being presented. 

 
12. The report to Cabinet referred to a further report being forthcoming in April 

once formal consultation with young people, affected staff and other key 
stakeholders had been undertaken. The task group welcome the 
announcement that the decision-making timescale has been extended and 
that the second report to Cabinet will now be considered at an extraordinary 
meeting on 15 May 2014.  

 
13. The task group acknowledges that financial pressures and employment 

regulations have to some degree dictated the pace of the review of activities 
for young people. However, it remains concerned that the timescale being 
followed risks major changes being made without time for their 
implementation or impact to be fully considered. There is a lack of detail about 
how the preferred option for remodelling the youth service would work in 
practice. A significant concern is how young people currently engaged 
with the youth service, some of whom rely on established relationships 
with their youth workers, would be supported through any transition 
period.  

 
14. The report to Cabinet (in Appendix 3) references several local authorities who 

have significantly reduced their in-house youth service or are in the process of 
doing so. However other youth service models where spending has been 
maintained or increased do not appear to have been integrated into the 
review and could also have been used to develop the four options now out for 
consultation. From 2009 Surrey County Council, undertook a three-year root-
and-branch review of its youth service that yielded 25% (£4.5M) savings with 
no youth centres being closed and no youth workers being made redundant.  
 

                                                           
1
 Represents 3,585 individuals covering the period 01/04/2013 to 30/09/2013. 

Page 11



 

 

 

15. Though some youth service models adopted by other local authorities are 
briefly described, the report to Cabinet does not contain evidence of what has 
been learned from these models or which are examples of good practice that  
Wiltshire could benefit from. 

 
16. The task group regrets that the Cabinet did not involve overview and scrutiny 

in its review of activities for young people at an earlier stage. Doing so would 
have enabled non-executive members to contribute to designing the options 
now out for formal consultation. This may have addressed many of the 
concerns raised in this report and prevented the anxiety now felt by 
stakeholders across the county, particularly young people.  

 
17. One regrettable consequence of the review is that some officers in the 

Integrated Youth Service now feel that their contribution is not valued by 
members of this council. The task group’s own investigations have actually 
highlighted the positives of the work of the service and how valued it is by 
young people.  

 
Options presented to Cabinet 
 

18. The 21 January report to Cabinet presented four options for the future of the 
Youth Development Service, with ‘D’ being proposed as the preferred option: 

 
Option A – Retain the current in-house service but reduce value 
Option B – Outsource the service 
Option C – Encourage and support staff to form a Public Service Mutual 
Option D – Develop a community led approach 
 

19. The Children’s Select Committee were invited to respond to the consultation, 
so the task group have focused on addressing each of the four options. 
Because Option D is preferred, more emphasis has been placed on 
considering this in detail. However, members also looked at the viability of 
Options A, B and C. 

 
Option A – Retain the current in-house service but reduce value 
(described in paragraphs 41-47 of the report to Cabinet) 
 

20. It is reported that this internal restructuring option could be to develop four 
hubs covering North, South, East and West (with the option of an additional 
rural hub covering Mere and Tisbury) and these hubs would take on a 
developmental role in the delivery of local positive leisure-time activities.  

 
21. The task group agrees that, although this option would to some extent retain 

the knowledge and skills of the existing workforce, the significant reduction in 
staff posts would greatly reduce the service’s capacity. It would also make the 
required savings difficult to achieve, particularly when taking into account the 
terms and conditions of existing staff, and it is unlikely that such a model 
would be sustainable in the longer term. 

 

Page 12



 

 

 

22. A four hub model could diminish the use of important local networks and could 
have a negative impact on young people living in rural areas without good 
transport links. 
 

Option B – Outsource the service 
(described in paragraphs 48-55 of the report to Cabinet) 
 

23. This option would involve developing a new service specification and holding 
a competitive tendering exercise to identify and select a preferred provider. 
There would be the option to select a number of providers to deliver in 
different parts of the county.  

 
24. The task group agrees that under Option B, securing one overall provider to 

cover the whole county would be unlikely, resulting in multiple contracts that 
could potentially prove difficult to manage. New providers may also lack local 
knowledge and may not have the infrastructure in place to deliver sufficient 
provision in rural areas, concentrating instead on the large urban towns.  

 
25. The task group is also concerned that Option B could end up costing more for 

less overall provision due to the hidden costs. The current Integrated Youth 
Service access many council services essentially for free and this would not 
apply to an external provider.  

 
26. There is a risk that the bidder who pitched lowest and shouted loudest would 

win the contract. Profit-led businesses might also neglect the less lucrative 
areas of provision, such as in rural areas. 

 
27. The Council has had previous experiences of outsourced services coming 

back in-house due to poor performance. 
 
28. The timescale of the review also means that outsourcing the service does not 

appear to be a viable option. 
 
Option C – Encourage and support staff to form a Public Service Mutual 
(described in paragraphs 56-62 of the report to Cabinet) 
 

29. Under this option a service specification and contract would be developed 
between the council and the mutual, shaped by key stakeholders and 
managed by commissioners. A payment by results funding system could be 
used where payments are made to the mutual based on the outcomes 
achieved. 

 
30. The task group agrees that this option could empower staff to take ownership 

of the youth service, retain the knowledge and skills of the existing workforce 
and help to minimise redundancies. However, strong commitment from staff 
would be needed, and it may prove difficult to provide the savings needed 
within the required timescales due to the complexities involved in establishing 
a new organisation.   

 

Page 13



 

 

 

31. The task group would also be concerned that the business skills and 
knowledge required to manage a youth service are very different to those 
required to deliver youth work. 

 
32. The task group is not aware that this option has been actively encouraged or 

supported by the council and therefore it does not seem a viable option at this 
stage of the review. 

 
Option D – Develop a community led approach 
(described in paragraphs 61–117 of the report to Cabinet) 
 

33. The task group recognises that this is the Cabinet’s preferred option. Under 
this model community areas would have an annual budget for youth activities, 
and would consult with young people to identify local needs and priorities and 
decide how this resource was deployed. This approach would involve the 
council moving from a direct provider of youth activities to an enabling role 
supporting VCS groups to provide activities using funding distributed by area 
boards.  
 

34. Option D means that 50.3 FTE posts in the current integrated youth service 
would be made redundant (affecting approximately 144 staff), with some 
redeployment opportunities being available. It also includes the creation of 
several new posts described as follows in the report to Cabinet: 
 
a) “Youth Support Worker (8 Full-time posts, 2 per existing children’s services 

locality) – the purpose of these posts is to strengthen local safeguarding 
arrangements by providing early help to the most vulnerable young people. 
These staff will also coordinate the delivery of targeted youth activities for 
young people with learning difficulties and disabilities.  

 
b) Community Development Youth Advisers (4 part-time posts) will provide 

professional advice and support (enabling function) to the area boards and 
home-grown youth groups, as well as providing practical capacity on the 
ground to help young people have a voice in local decision making. This 
will include work with area boards to support the development of Youth 
Advisory Groups [these posts will be subject to ongoing review]. Advisers 
will target support to area boards in most need of assistance.” 

 
Budgets 

 
35. Under Option D, a youth activities budget for each community area would be 

set and distributed using the existing youth work or area board funding 
formula, taking into account factors such as population, deprivation and 
sparsity. Funding in the form of grants would be available for individuals and 
community-led groups to set up new youth projects. The task group welcomed 
clarification that this money would be revenue funding, ringfenced for use on 
positive activities for young people. 

 
36. At present many VCS groups providing positive activities for young people 

energetically fundraise in order to do so. The task group are concerned that 

Page 14



 

 

 

under Option D, some of these groups would understandably rely on the new 
funding available from area boards and reduce their wider fundraising efforts. 
This would effectively yield the same number of activities as currently 
provided by VCS groups, but at a higher overall cost to the council. The task 
group has received no details of what measures will be put in place to mitigate 
this risk. 

 
37. In 2012/13 Wiltshire area boards spent a total of £291,000 on activities or 

projects for young people through their (non-ringfenced) grant allocations. 
Under Option D, area boards will have to spend the new ring-fenced funding 
on youth activities, but may spend their non-ringfenced grant allocations on 
something else. The increased funding available at community level would 
therefore be benefiting other priorities at the cost of activities for young 
people. There is therefore a significant risk that the cut to spending on 
positive activities for young people would effectively be increased by 
£291,000k. The task group has received no details of what measures will 
be put in place to mitigate this risk.  

 
38. The task group has not received details of the criteria that will be used to 

determine which schemes could be considered to be providing a positive 
leisure time activity under Section 507b and therefore be eligible for the ring-
fenced funding. The task group are aware that at present some area board 
funded initiatives with only a partial connection to young people are recorded 
as being ‘for young people’.  
 

39. The Integrated Youth Service uses a range of services provided by other 
council departments effectively for no fee, such as legal advice, HR and 
payroll. Some VCS groups may have appropriate infrastructure in place, but 
the task group are concerned that there would be gaps. Communities and 
less established VCS groups may struggle, for example, with the costs of 
additional DBS checks and the financial and legal responsibilities of 
employing members of staff, such as obtaining public and employer liability 
insurance. The Integrated Youth Service also have use of the council’s fleet of 
Multi Purpose Vehicles (MPVs) and it would need to be ensured that these 
were available to be used by VCS groups. Prior consultation with young 
people has shown that transport can be a major barrier to accessing positive 
leisure-time activities. These could all represent additional hidden costs that 
would reduce the funding VCS groups could spend directly on positive 
activities for young people. 
 

Strategic oversight 
 

40. Under Option D, each area board would establish a sub-group to oversee the 
development and provision of activities for young people in their community 
area. The sub-groups would be based on the model currently used for 
Community Area Transport Groups (CAT-Gs) and would make 
recommendations to the area board and also monitor local provision.  

 
41. The task group notes that CAT-Gs receive comprehensive support from 

Highways officers and are given clear guidance on how their budgets can be 

Page 15



 

 

 

used. Most elected members are not experts in commissioning activities for 
young people and would need equally comprehensive support and a clearly 
defined role to meet this new responsibility. As the report to Cabinet states, 
there would need to be careful consideration of area boards’ understanding of 
the consistency and application of the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) to 
ensure equality of access and inclusion and of Section 507B of the Education 
Act 1996 to secure access to sufficient positive leisure-time activities. Without 
appropriate support, there is a risk that some types of activity or group, such 
as sports clubs, could predominate, leaving the needs of some young people 
unmet.  

 
42. The report proposes that for the 18 area boards (covering 20 community 

areas), 4 new part-time Community Development Youth Advisors (2 FTE) 
would carry out this supporting function, with some additional support 
potentially being available from Sports Development Officers. The task group 
is not convinced that this would be a sufficient resource for the scale of this 
task, particularly during a transition period when area boards would be 
developing their local offers.  

 
43. Youth workers coordinate Youth Advisory Groups (YAGs) across the county 

(the task group recognises that some area boards have more than one YAG), 
involving young people in shaping local services and activities that affect 
them. Under Option D, YAGs would be coordinated differently with several 
youth participation events or workshops taking place annually in each 
community area. It is proposed that four part-time Community Development 
Youth Advisers would provide officer support to YAGs countywide. The task 
group are not convinced that this would be a sufficient resource. A key 
message from consultations with young people is that they want their YAG, 
where they exist, to have greater influence, so any change to how they are 
run and supported must be properly thought through and costed. The task 
group is concerned that in areas where YAGs have not been established 
there would not be sufficient resource for developing new groups. 

 
44. Youth workers and representatives from the VCS youth sector, have reported 

that while most VCS youth groups deliver their provision through volunteers, 
this provision is often underpinned by advice and leadership from the council’s 
Integrated Youth Service. As part of its own consultation response, the VCS 
group Youth Action Wiltshire compiled an extensive list of the support 
provided by the Integrated Youth Service to VCS youth groups across the 
county. There is a risk around the ability of some VCS groups to continue to 
function effectively were the current youth service to be diminshed.  

 
Targeted Youth Work and Safeguarding 
 
45. The report to Cabinet states that in moving toward a community-led approach 

the council would strengthen safeguarding arrangements for the most 
vulnerable young people by re-investing resource into early help and targeted 
support provided by eight new full-time Youth Support Workers. The task 
group is concerned that the proposed removal of 50.3 FTE posts undertaking 
universal work and their effective replacement with 8 Youth Support Workers 

Page 16



 

 

 

undertaking targeted work (plus 4 part-time posts with other duties) would 
actually represent a reduction in the number of genuinely early interventions 
taking place.  

 
46. Under Option D, more resources would be directed toward VCS youth groups 

providing activities for young people. However, witnesses interviewed 
including youth workers, VCS youth groups and young people, cite an 
important difference between “activities for young people” and “youth work” – 
a difference not referred to in the report to Cabinet. While the value of the 
leisure time activities provided by VCS groups is not in question, the central 
purpose of many of them is to develop a specific skill or interest (football or 
theatre, for example). Although these opportunities are undoubtedly 
beneficial, their central purpose is not to proactively protect and develop 
young people’s general welfare and emotional wellbeing.  

 
47. The report to Cabinet states that a quality mark scheme would be developed 

for VCS providers of positive leisure-time activities and that through an 
accreditation exercise, providers would need to meet certain criteria in order 
to achieve the quality mark. The task group supports any measure for 
supporting VCS youth groups to meet appropriate safeguarding standards. 
However, having robust child protection procedures in place is different to 
undertaking youth work that is focused on developing and supporting young 
people’s general welfare. Unless the quality mark scheme proposed was 
prescriptive enough to ensure that providers delivered this kind of youth work 
(as opposed to specific activity-based provision), it would not lead to an offer 
that is equivalent to the current Integrated Youth Service.  
 

48. By introducing a quality mark scheme the council would effectively be taking a 
responsibility for ensuring the quality and safety of activities provided by VCS 
groups. The task group is concerned that the report to Cabinet does not 
describe how such a scheme would be managed or maintained or how 
assessments of individual providers would be undertaken. Inadequate 
implementation of such a scheme could potentially expose the council 
to significant financial and reputational risk, and more importantly 
inadvertently expose young people to significant harm due to young 
people and parents incorrectly believing quality-marked provision to be 
safe. 

 
49. Open access youth work gives young people the chance to speak to youth 

workers if and when they feel ready to. Young people have told the task group 
that many VCS youth groups are run by volunteers from the local community 
and that they would be less likely to confide in them due to their potential links 
with family or school.  Such local youth group leaders are also not necessarily 
trained to recognise signals that could indicate a young person would benefit 
from further help or have a good working knowledge of the targeted services 
available and the referral mechanisms for accessing them.  

 
50. As stated in the Cabinet report, the lives of young people have changed 

considerably in recent years with the expansion of home entertainment and 
social networking. It is also acknowledged that not all young people view 

Page 17



 

 

 

council-run youth centres favourably. However, many of the young people 
interviewed engage with the Integrated Youth Service primarily to access 
supportive relationships with youth workers and other young people in a safe 
environment. This was particularly the case with young people who are less 
confident and find accessing some forms of activity-based youth provision (for 
example, sports) intimidating. These relationships in themselves represent 
important early intervention work that may reduce the possibility of young 
people needing targeted services further down the line.  

 
51. The task group also understands that many of the VCS groups providing 

activities for young people have long waiting lists due to demand outstripping 
supply. Evidence received from VCS groups has demonstrated that while 
many groups have a willingness to deliver they lack sufficient volunteers to 
fulfil this. The task group is concerned that it has not been demonstrated that 
enough suitable volunteers with a specific interest in the challenges presented 
by youth work can be found. Neighbourhood police officers have also 
expressed concern that a consequence of any reduction to the provision of 
activities for young people could be an increase in antisocial behaviour (ASB) 
or in the perception of ASB. 
 

52. The task group are unclear about what the relationship would be between the 
council and VCS youth groups (both existing and new) with regard to the 
sharing of personal data. Currently council youth workers work closely with 
council social workers to safeguard young people and this involves some 
degree of data sharing. The task group would like clarification on whether, 
under Option D, equivalent arrangements for VCS youth workers would need 
to be explored. 

 
53. It has been reported that the Integrated Youth Service has historically not 

instigated a significant number of Common Assessment Frameworks (CAFs) 
or Single Agency Referral Forms (SARFs). This has been cited as evidence 
that there has been limited targeted youth work undertaken. The task group 
questions this conclusion for the following reasons:  

 
a) It has been reported that as at 4 February 2014 the youth development 

service had only 15 CAFs open, while secondary schools had 272. This 
would appear to be a significant difference until one considers that 
secondary schools have contact with almost all 11-16 year olds in the 
county and that their contact time with each individual is significantly more 
than any youth service could hope to achieve. 

 
b) CAFs and SARFs are appropriate for young people who may require a tier 

2  service (see Appendix 3 for a guide to tiers of need). The task group 
questions whether it is meaningful to use a tier 2 measure to judge the 
success of the Integrated Youth Service, which is at present a tier 1 (i.e. 
universal) service.  

 
c) Rather than suggesting a lack of impactful activity, a low number of CAFs 

and SARFs being raised by youth workers could equally demonstrate the 

Page 18



 

 

 

positive impact of the preventative work they do with young people before 
they reach the tier 2 threshold of need. 

 
54. The task group is concerned that the proposed 8 Youth Support Workers will 

act as quasi social workers carrying caseloads of young people who have 
reached the tier 2a and 2b threshold of need. This would mean that they were 
not engaging with young people until they reach some degree of crisis. 
Therefore the task group does not view this as true early intervention work. 
Recent data provided by officers shows that between 1 April and the end of 
September 2013 3,585 13-19 year olds engaged with the youth development 
service. These contacts are not formally recognised as ‘casework’, but may 
represent important preventative work. It is acknowledged that, although 
outcomes from this kind of low-level, preventative work are difficult to record 
and measure, the Integrated Youth Service must improve its ability to 
demonstrate its value.  
 

55. Under Option D, a young person identified by a VCS group or other party as 
needing targeted support would presumably be referred to one of the 8 
proposed Youth Support Workers. Given the scale of the county, it is unlikely 
that the Youth Support Workers would have substantial existing relationships 
with the young people referred to them. This concerns the task group because 
young people have reported that this would make them less likely to give 
youth workers their trust and accept the support offered.  
 

56. The purpose of the proposed Youth Support Worker role is de to strengthen 
local safeguarding arrangements by providing early help to the most 
vulnerable young people (and coordinating the delivery of targeted youth 
activities for young people with learning difficulties and disabilities). It has 
been confirmed that this is a different role to the council’s Adolescent Support 
Workers, who work with young people at the edge-of-care or tier 3 level of 
need. 

 
57. In summary, the task group is concerned that Option D represents a move 

away from truly preventative work and towards intervention at a later stage 
when the consequences for the young person, the community and public 
finances are likely to be worse. The task group celebrates the non-targeted 
work that the council is already undertaking with young people, such as the 
development of the YAGs. Wiltshire is now reaping the benefits of this long 
programme of activity with young people playing an increasing role in shaping 
their communities. An approach of significant upfront investment for long-term 
reward is also evident in the council’s community campus programme. The 
task group sees no reason why the same approach should not be taken to 
working with young people and the task group is deeply concerned that the 
preferred option risks saving money now to spend more later. Of greater 
concern is the significant negative impact on young people’s lives if access to 
supportive relationships with youth workers is reduced.  

 
Further comments 
 

Page 19



 

 

 

58. The report to Cabinet states that some staff affected by redundancy could be 
reemployed by town or parish councils to continue to undertake youth work. 
Town and parish councils are already being asked to take on additional 
responsibilities and may struggle with the further responsibility of 
commissioning activities for young people. While larger town councils might 
play a role in youth services, smaller parish councils would struggle to do so. 
Even if a town or parish council was minded to contribute, the likely 
introduction of a cap on their precepts would hamper their ability to do so in a 
meaningful way. It should also be noted that providing positive leisure time 
activities for young people is a legal duty of the council and not of town or 
parish councils. 

 
Option D – summary of concerns 

 
59. In summary, the task group are concerned that Option D in its original form 

could lead to: 
 

1. An overall reduction in the provision of positive leisure time activities for 
young people due to a) the loss of open-access youth work, and b) the 
swallowing-up of the proposed new area board funding for youth activities 
(due to factors set out in paragraph 35 to 39); 

 
2. A less coherent offer of positive activities that does not meet the needs of 

all young people in Wiltshire, particularly those from vulnerable groups; 
 
3. A reduction in capacity for developing new YAGs, supporting existing 

YAGs and a consequent  reduction in young people’s ability to shape the 
services in their communities; 

 
4. A significant negative impact on those VCS youth groups that currently 

rely on the support and advice of the Integrated Youth Service to operate 
effectively; 

 
5. A reduction in young people’s ability to access supportive relationships 

with trained youth workers; 
 
6. A reduction in the preventative work currently being done by youth 

workers and a consequent increase in later interventions once the young 
person has reached a higher level of need, with the potential for 
significant long-term impacts on the young person, their community and 
the public purse. 

 
Option D+  (an alternative model) 
 

60. The task group has concerns about the four options proposed to Cabinet but 
also accepts that reforms are needed to the council’s current youth service: 
Hitherto the council has not measured the impact of the youth work it has 
provided adequately, due in part to inconsistent record-keeping across the 
service. The council is therefore at risk of taking decisions about the future of 
the youth service based on incomplete or unreliable data.  

Page 20



 

 

 

 
The task group has therefore considered whether an alternative service model 
could retain the strengths of the current Integrated Youth Service, address 
existing weaknesses, mitigate the risks of the preferred option, and transform 
the service to increase community involvement in activities for young people 
by giving area boards greater commissioning responsibilities. The example 
model set out in Appendix 2 is intended to demonstrate that this can be 
achieved whilst still making the necessary savings from the budgets in scope. 
The model includes a named youth worker for every community area, retains 
Youth Support Worker resource for providing early help to the most vulnerable 
young people and working with young people with learning difficulties and 
disabilities, creates youth worker apprenticeship opportunities for 9 young 
people and still leaves £365,100 to be allocated to area boards to spend on 
positive leisure time activities for young people in their community areas. 

 
Recommendations 
 
In forming a response to the consultation on positive leisure time activities for 
young people, the task group has considered the four options proposed to 
Cabinet and commented on each. Having considered the evidence, the task 
group recommends that: 
 
1. Option A is not implemented for the reasons set out in paragraphs 20 to 22 

of this report; 
 

2. Option B is not implemented for the reasons set out in paragraphs 23 to 28 
of this report; 

  
3. Option C is not implemented for the reasons set out in paragraphs 29 to 32 

of this report; 
 

4. Option D is implemented only if amended in the following ways: 
 

a) Robust measures are put in place to ensure that the proposed 
ringfenced funding available to VCS youth groups through area boards 
supplements, rather than replaces, VCS groups’ existing sources of 
funding. (see paragraph 35) 
 

b) Robust measures are put in place to ensure that the new ringfenced 
funding supplements, rather than replaces, area boards’ existing (non-
ringfenced) funding for positive activities for young people. (see 
paragraph 36) 
 

c) Appropriate criteria are designed to ensure that the area board funding 
ring-fenced for youth activities is only used for activities and schemes 
of genuine benefit to young people in line with guidance under Section 
507B of the Education Act 1996(see paragraph 37) 
 

d) Consideration is given to the council services currently accessed by the 
Integrated Youth Service effectively at no cost to the Service and steps 

Page 21



 

 

 

are taken to avoid these becoming additional hidden costs to VCS youth 
groups as their role in providing positive leisure time activities for 
young people increases.  (see paragraph 39) 
 

e) Consideration is given to establishing a mechanism by which 
communities can employ a youth worker though the council, providing a 
way in which employment issues can be effectively and affordably 
managed. Public and employer liability insurance should also be taken 
into account when developing this framework.  (see paragraph 39) 
 

f) Mechanisms are put in place to monitor what positive activities for 
young people are provided in each community area to ensure that an 
appropriate range for all young people is provided and the Public Sector 
Equality Duty (PSED) and responsibilities under Section 507B of the 
Education Act 1996 are met.  (see paragraph 41) 
 

g) The proposed area board sub-groups responsible for developing youth 
provision are given clear and specific parameters to work within and 
clear guidance on how their ringfenced youth activity budgets can be 
spent, in line with the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and Section 
507B of the Education Act 1996  (see paragraph 41) 
 

h) The proposed level of support for the area board sub-groups 
responsible for developing youth provision is enhanced significantly to 
ensure that an appropriate range of positive activities for all young 
people is provided and the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and 
responsibilities under Section 507B of the Education Act 1996 are met 
across every community area.  (see paragraph 42)  
 

i) The proposed level of support for Youth Advisory Groups (YAGs) is 
enhanced significantly to ensure the continuance and growth of the 
valuable development opportunities YAGs provide and reflecting 
feedback from young people that they should have greater influence on 
services that affect them. (see paragraph 43) 
 

j) The proposed level of support for providing professional advice and an 
enabling and coordinating function for VCS youth groups is enhanced 
significantly so that the resources available across each community 
area can be considered strategically and used in a joined-up way that 
meets local needs and circumstances.  (see paragraph 44) 
 

k) Some council resource for facilitating open-access youth work is 
retained in every community area, to ensure that: 
 

• young people can continue to access and develop supportive 
relationships with youth workers whom they feel able to confide in; 

• the vital early intervention work undertaken by youth workers with 
young people before they reach the tier 2 level of need continues, 
avoiding significant additional costs in the long term. 
(see paragraphs 45 to 55) 

Page 22



 

 

 

 
l) The proposed Youth Support Worker role is clearly defined as working 

with young people at the tier 2a and 2b level of need, rather than young 
people at the edge-of-care or tier 3 level of need (who are currently 
supported by the council’s Adolescent Support Workers). (see paragraph 
56) 
 

5. The Cabinet considers adopting Option D+ as set out in Appendix 2 as a 
delivery model that achieves the necessary savings from the budgets in 
scope and addresses the weaknesses of Option D set out under 
Recommendation 4. 

 
 

 
Positive Leisure Time Activities for Young People Task Group 
 
Report author: Henry Powell – Senior Scrutiny Officer 
01225 718052 henry.powell@wiltshire.gov.uk 
  
Appendices 
 

1. Report to Cabinet – 21 January 2014 
2. Option D+  An indicative youth service model 
3. Thresholds for Safeguarding Document produced by WSCB and  the 

Children’s Trust 
 

Background papers 
 
None 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



 

       
Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
21 January 2014 
 

 
Subject: Review of positive leisure-time activities for young people 
 
Cabinet member:  Councillor Laura Mayes – Children’s Services 
  
Key Decision: Yes 

 

Executive Summary 
As a local authority, Wiltshire Council has a statutory duty to secure for young 
people aged 13-191 access to sufficient positive leisure-time activities to 
improve their well-being. For more than ten years, Wiltshire Council, and the 
former county and district councils, met this requirement through the provision of 
an open access development service for young people. The youth work team of 
the Integrated Youth Service currently operates across the county, offering a 
mix of centre and street-based youth work with an annual budget of £1.3m. 
 
In the ten years since the service was first established the lives of young people 
have changed considerably. The rapid expansion of home entertainment, the 
growth in the number of commercial leisure providers, and the launch of smart 
technology combined with the phenomenon of social networking means young 
people are growing up in changing social environments and living very different 
lives. The council recognises that it needs to respond to these changes and 
consider the most appropriate approach to meet young people’s needs. 
Feedback from prior consultation with young people reveals that;  
 
- They want to have a greater influence about services which affect them; 
- They value sport and leisure based activities; 
- They want positive leisure-time activities to be decided locally; and 
- They want community campuses to include suitable space for them.  
 
At present, approximately 8 percent of the 13-19 population access the council’s 
youth work provision.2 Many young people are likely to be engaged in a vast 
array of other activities offered by voluntary, community and private sector 
providers. Based on this the council needs to reflect on the future provision of 
positive leisure-time activities – recognising the valuable contribution of the 
voluntary and community sector – as well as considering how it positively 
engages with young people given the change in their lifestyles.  
 
The council also recognises the need to consider changes to government youth 
policy. In 2012, the Department for Education set out a new approach called 
Positive for Youth, which included updated statutory guidance on services and 
activities to improve young people’s well-being. Local authorities were reminded 

                                                 
1
 Up to age 24 for young people with a learning difficulty. 
2
 Represents 3585 individuals covering the period 01/04/2013 to 30/09/2013. 

Page 25



 

of their responsibility to continue to support young people, especially those who 
are more vulnerable, to engage positively in their communities and make a 
successful transition to adulthood. The government also defined a new role for 
councils to shift their role to be an enabler of services, rather than a direct 
provider, with an enhanced role for the voluntary and community sector. 
 
This approach aligns with the principles of the Localism Act, which shifts power 
and control from local authorities and public sector providers into the hands of 
local communities and individuals. This also reflects the council’s vision; to 
create stronger and more resilient communities by encouraging and supporting 
local communities to do more for themselves and, as a consequence, become 
less reliant on decreasing public sector resources.  
 
Since becoming a unitary council in 2009, Wiltshire Council has adopted a 
radical and forward thinking approach to delivering its vision and services. A 
major programme of transformation will deliver significant savings and improved 
public services through the development of 18 community campuses. The 
campuses, designed by communities, will provide the services they want and 
need, in a location they consider best for their community and run by 
communities. The campuses will provide modern, sustainable, fit for purpose 
facilities, offering co-located services including libraries, leisure, police, health 
and community services. The first campus will open in Corsham in June 2014. 
 
The campuses offer new opportunities for local communities, including the 
younger generation, to participate and get involved in a range of services, 
activities and local decisions that affect them.  
 
The council needs to manage unprecedented financial challenges by balancing 
the growing demand for services against the reduction in funding from central 
government. This has meant taking tough decisions to reduce spending over the 
next four years. In February 2013, the council agreed to reduce spending across 
the Integrated Youth Service by £250,000 per annum, based on the changes as 
highlighted above. Further savings will be required in the 2014/15 budget year. 
 
To help manage increased service expectations, particularly in safeguarding 
and social care, the council along with partner organisations has developed an 
Early Help Strategy. This seeks to improve outcomes for children, young people 
and families by providing the right help as soon as it is needed. To deliver this 
strategy the council needs to re-focus its youth services so that young people in 
most need of support can access and are provided with help before problems 
escalate and reach crisis point.  
 
It is clear that the existing model for meeting the council’s statutory duty to 
secure access to positive activities for young people requires review and that 
there is a need to do things differently and work in a more innovative way to 
meet the needs of young people in the future. 
 
A new approach needs to respond to the modern lives of young people and 
should be shaped by their views, as well as meet the legal duties of the council. 
Future provision needs to align to the new community campuses and be 
sustainable ensuring that help, support and resource is provided to the young 
people who need it most.  

Page 26



 

 

Proposal(s) 
That cabinet reviews how the council meets its statutory duty to secure for 
young people aged 13-193 access to sufficient positive leisure-time activities 
which improve their wellbeing, and sufficient facilities for such activities. This 
report sets out a range of options for cabinet to consider, with a provisional 
recommendation to develop a community led approach, subject to formal 
consultation with young people, internal staff and other key stakeholders to 
inform the decision making process. In considering the options cabinet 
members are reminded of the need to comply with the following legal 
obligations: 
 

• Take steps required by s507B(9) of the Education Act 1996 to ascertain the 
views of qualifying young person’s about the proposals; 

• Comply with and pay due regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty under 
s149 of the Equality Act 2010, which requires that all councillors must 
consider the equality issues and impacts of proposals as part of the decision 
making process. 

 
All councillors are advised to read the Equalities Impact Assessment (Appendix 
1) prior to cabinet as well as taking note of the equality considerations set out in 
this report. In addition, councillors should consider the risks associated with the 
proposals as detailed in the attached risk register (Appendix 2). It is mandatory 
for the cabinet as decision-makers, to read and examine this report in full, 
including the appendices.  

 

Reason for Proposal 
Section 507B of the Education Act 1996 requires that every local authority in 
England must, so far as reasonably practicable, secure for qualifying young 
persons in their area access to sufficient positive leisure-time activities which 
improve their well-being, and sufficient facilities for such activities. Updated 
statutory guidance (June 2012) reminded local authorities of their responsibility 
to continue to support young people, especially those who are more vulnerable, 
to engage positively in their communities and make a successful transition to 
adulthood. The government also defined a new role for councils to shift their role 
to be an enabler of services rather than a direct provider, with an enhanced role 
for the voluntary and community sector. 
 
The council’s existing model for principally meeting this duty requires a 
systematic review to reflect the changing world we live in and there is a need to 
do things differently and work in a more innovative way to meet the needs of 
young people, in the future. A new approach needs to respond to the modern 
lives of young people and should be shaped by their views, as well as meet the 
legal duties of the council. Future provision needs to align to the new community 
campuses and be sustainable to ensure that help, support and resource is 
provided to the young people who need it most.  

 

Name of Director      Terence Herbert            Carolyn Godfrey 
Designation              Associate Director        Corporate Director 

                                                 
3
 up to 24 for young people with a learning difficulty 

Page 27



 

Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
21 January 2014 
 

 
Subject:  Review of positive leisure-time activities for young people 
 
Cabinet member:  Councillor Laura Mayes – Children’s Services 
   
Key Decision: Yes 
 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to review how the council meets its statutory duty 

to secure for young people aged 13-19 (up to 24 for young people with a 
learning difficulty) access to sufficient positive leisure-time activities which 
improve their well-being, and the provision of sufficient facilities for such 
activities. In doing so, there is a need to ensure compliance with the council’s 
Public Sector Equality Duty under s149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the 
decision making process. 
 

2. The report sets out a range of options for cabinet members to consider, with a 
provisional recommendation to develop and implement a community led 
approach, subject to formal consultation with young people, internal staff and 
other key stakeholders to inform the decision making process and future 
provision.  

 
Background 
 
Introduction 
 
3. The provision of positive leisure-time activities is a key part of the local 

authority’s overall offer to young people and communities, and the council is 
committed to continuing this provision. A positive activity can be any 
educational or recreational leisure-time activity that is arts, sports, leisure, 
informal education and community based which helps young people to 
achieve healthy and safe lifestyle outcomes. 
 

4. For more than ten years, Wiltshire Council (and the former county and district 
councils) has met its statutory duty to secure access to positive activities for 
young people primarily through the provision of an open access development 
service for young people. Since the service was first established the lives of 
young people have changed considerably. The rapid expansion of home 
entertainment, the growth in the number of commercial leisure providers, and 
the launch of smart technology combined with the phenomenon of social 
networking means young people are growing up in changing social 
environments and living very different lives.  

 

Page 28



 

5. To respond to this as well taking into account other key drivers for change, as 
outlined below, it is appropriate for the council to systematically review how it 
meets its statutory duty in response to the changing world we live in. A new 
approach needs to respond to the modern lives of young people and should 
be shaped by their views, as well as meet the legal duties of the council. 
Future provision needs to align to the new community campuses and be 
sustainable ensuring that help, support and resource is provided to the young 
people who need it most.  

 
6. Options for the future provision of positive leisure-time activities have been 

developed by key officers in consultation with cabinet members. In October 
2013 an internal cross-cutting project management group was established, 
chaired by the Head of Service for Integrated Youth and Preventative 
Services, to oversee the development of the proposals. This group has 
helped shape the options for consideration in this report.  

 
Statutory Requirements  
 
Education Act 1996 
 
7. Section 507B of the Education Act 1996 requires that every local authority in 

England must, so far as reasonably practicable, secure for qualifying young 
persons in the authority’s area access to sufficient educational and 
recreational activities (also referred to as positive leisure-time activities) which 
are for the improvement of their well-being, and sufficient facilities for such 
activities. Statutory guidance was issued by the government Department for 
Children, Schools and Families in March 2008.  
 

8. The government published a new youth policy in 2012 called Positive for 
Youth, including updated statutory guidance on services and activities to 
improve young people’s well-being. For youth services the guidance 
reminded local authorities of their responsibility to continue supporting young 
people, especially those who are more vulnerable, to engage positively in 
their communities and to make successful transitions to adulthood. 

 
9. Updated statutory guidance defined a new role for local authorities as an 

enabler of services rather than a direct provider, with services mainly 
delivered by the voluntary and community sector. Councils were reminded of 
the need to take steps to ascertain the views of young people and take them 
into account in making decisions about services and activities for them. The 
government does not prescribe what local authorities should fund or deliver or 
to what level. It is the council’s responsibility to take the strategic lead to work 
with young people, the voluntary/community sector and other relevant 
partners to understand and meet young people’s needs. 

 
Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 2010 
 
10. Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 sets out a general duty which requires 

the council to have due regard to the need to: 
 

a) Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act. 

Page 29



 

b) Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

c) Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not.  
 

11. The duty is in relation to protected characteristic groups and has to be applied 
in the delivery of Wiltshire Council services and in the employment of its staff. 
The relevant protected characteristics include age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marital and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation. 

 
12. Councillors are advised to read Appendix 3 which provides further detail on 

the local authority’s statutory duties in respect of the Education Act 1996 and 
Public Sector Equality Duty 2010. 

 
Current provision 
 

13. Although the council’s 507B statutory duty has largely been met through the 
provision of an open access development service (now youth work team) for 
young people to date, it’s important to note that it has also been satisfied in 
part by a broader youth offer. This includes a range of other council and 
voluntary/community sector youth services and activities.  

 

14. At present the council’s youth work team operates from 24 sites across 
Wiltshire (Appendix 4), largely offering centre based youth work provision that 
is open to all 13-19 year olds, with some outreach work in Holt, Studley Green 
and The Friary. In some community areas provision is also available to 11 
and 12 year olds. Bridging Projects are also provided which offer disabled 
young people the opportunity to engage in positive leisure-time activities in 
Chippenham, Devizes, Durrington, Malmesbury, Marlborough, Pewsey, 
Salisbury, Tisbury, Trowbridge and Warminster. 

 
15. Youth workers also coordinate Youth Advisory Groups (YAGs) across the 

county, involving young people in shaping local services and activities which 
affect them. Recent data from the integrated youth database shows that 3585 
13-19 year olds engaged with the youth work team from 1st April to the end of 
September 2013. During this time these individuals attended the service 
31,186 times – averaging 8.7 attendances per young person attending.  

 

16. The council’s integrated youth service youth work team also coordinates the 
Wiltshire Youth Arts Partnership which provides targeted positive activities to 
vulnerable groups. The Duke of Edinburgh Award scheme provides informal 
education opportunities and an outdoor education centre offers outdoor 
activities via a traded service to local schools.  

 

17. The council also runs Sparksite, a website and radio station which provides 
information to young people about local opportunities and positive-leisure 
time activities. In addition, a phone and web-based service called ‘The Line’ is 
funded which provides confidential advice and support for young people.  

 

18. The Wiltshire Skills4Success programme is also available; a £265,000 
Wiltshire Council funded scheme which aims to help young people develop 

Page 30



 

the confidence and skills they need to take up education, work or training 
opportunities. 

 
19. Community area boards also sponsor a variety of youth projects in their local 

areas. Over the last four years the council has delegated £100,000 per 
annum to area boards for youth projects, with an additional £162,000 (a one-
off amount) in the 2013/14 budget. This funding is in addition to the £1 million 
community grants budget allocated to area boards. Approximately 25-30 
percent is allocated to support youth related activities.  

 
20. Community areas allocate funding by a variety of means including 

participatory ‘You Decide’ type events; where local young people prepare 
bids, pitch to the attendees and then the audience (community 
representatives and members of the public) vote for the winners. The initiative 
of devolving funding to community area boards in this way has been 
welcomed and valued by local communities, and has helped to support the 
development of home-grown community youth groups which offer a range of 
positive leisure-time activities for young people.  

 

Buildings  
 

21. As stated earlier in this report, the council directly provides positive leisure-
time activities from twenty-four sites across the county (Appendix 4). The total 
annual cost of these sites is approximately £650,000. However, there are a 
wide range of other community assets which are also being used or could be 
used to provide suitable space for youth activities. As part of a community 
mapping exercise council officers are working with community areas to 
identify these assets. 
 

22. In addition, the campus programme means that suitable space and facilities 
for youth activities will form part of the campus developments. Communities 
are leading the development of campus proposals, directly influencing the 
facilities and services in local areas. Whilst these campuses are developed 
the council will work with community areas to identify suitable, accessible 
space for youth activities which makes the best use of local resources 
available. 

 

Feedback from previous consultation with young people 
 
23. The council has carried out a number of consultation exercises with young 

people over the last three years to ascertain their views on positive leisure-
time activities. Several methods have been used to support young people’s 
voice and influence, including focus groups and surveys. 
 

24. Results from the Tomorrow’s Voice survey perhaps provide the most 
extensive overview of young people’s views. The survey involves consultation 
with local 11-18 year olds through classes in Wiltshire’s secondary schools. 
There are usually two surveys per year with questions posed by the council, 
health, police and fire and rescue. Approximately half of the secondary 
schools are surveyed each time, with around 1,200 young people taking part. 
The information below is based on survey’s undertaken in 2011 and 2012. 
Young people tell us: 

Page 31



 

 

a) They are most satisfied with services provided by their local leisure centre, 
voluntary run youth groups and libraries. 

b) That most services they come into contact with help them to participate in 
fun activities and improve their physical fitness. 

c) They would prefer their youth club/centre to be within walking distance of 
their home; however 37 per cent of those who responded (Spring 2011) 
stated location didn’t matter as they wouldn’t attend anyway. 

d) That social space for young people is important. 
e) That the cost to attend a youth club should be as low as possible. 

 
25. In 2011, the council undertook a specific consultation with young people on 

the development of an 11-19 years commissioning strategy. This mainly 
involved 13-19 year olds, many of whom were engaged in youth work. 746 
young people from schools, community area young people issue groups, 
voluntary/community sector, Wiltshire Assembly of Youth, Children in Care 
Council and bridging projects contributed to a review of the council’s 
development service for young people. These young people said: 
 

a) They wanted to have a greater influence about services which affect them. 
b) They would like to keep their local youth centre and would like campuses 

to include suitable space for them, designed by young people.  
c) That positive relationships with workers/adults are important and valued. 
d) That access to youth work and positive activities should be fully inclusive 

and free of charge. 
e) They would like help to do better at school/college and move into 

employment and training. 
f) They are still struggling with transport issues in some areas and want a 

local access point to services. It would be good to have youth activities in 
one place. 

 

26. As part of the consultation young people were invited to consider four options 
for the future shape of the development service for young people; testing the 
market; local partnerships; local management and campus links; less 
buildings, more voluntary/community sector support. The majority of 
respondents favoured the local management and campus links option. 
 

27. A pre-consultation event also took place on the 11-19 years commissioning 
strategy which invited young people to give their views on what’s positive and 
what needs to change within their local community area. Young people were 
asked specifically about their thoughts on positive leisure-time activities. They 
said: 

 

a) Sport and leisure is important. 
b) Informal education opportunities are beneficial. 
c) Community area young people’s issue groups and access to the area 

boards for young people are valuable. 
d) Transport can be a major barrier to accessing positive leisure-time 

activities. 
e) Youth groups provided by the council and the voluntary/community sector 

are highly rated.  
 

Page 32



 

28. In addition to the above, the views of young people engaged in Youth 
Advisory Groups (YAGs) across the county were gathered in August 2013 at 
an event focused on reviewing progress and setting out a vision for YAGs, as 
well as identifying key issues in Wiltshire. A key message from those present 
was that they wanted their local YAG to have a greater say in shaping local 
services and activities for young people. 

 
Learning from other local authorities 
 

29. Many areas in England have already moved away from directly providing 
positive leisure-time activities for young people; significantly reducing funding 
in this area. These areas have re-focused in-house youth services provision 
on targeted work with vulnerable young people, and have taken steps to 
enable the voluntary and community sector to provide universal services.  
 

30. Nearby local areas such as Somerset, Hampshire, Gloucestershire and North 
Somerset have developed voluntary/community led approaches to the 
provision of positive activities. Information about how other areas are meeting 
their 507B statutory duty is included in Appendix 3. 
 

31. In November 2013 the Court of Appeal ruled that North Somerset Council 
acted unlawfully in 2012 when it reduced funding to its youth services by 
more than 70 percent over a three year period. It was found that the council 
had failed to comply with its obligations under s507B of the Education Act 
1996 and the applicable statutory guidance. It had also failed to meet its 
public sector equalities duties under s149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 

32. The court found there was insufficient evidence that the council had taken the 
steps required by s507B(9) of the Education Act 1996 to ascertain the 
required views of qualifying young people about the proposal. In addition, the 
council had failed to pay due regard to the Equality Duty because there was a 
lack of evidence that councillors understood and had used the full equality 
analysis found within committee papers to inform decision making. Instead 
they had an over-reliance on a summary document which failed to include 
detail about the impacts on different ‘protected characteristic’ groups needed 
to make an informed decision. 

 

Wiltshire Council Business Plan & Medium Term Financial Strategy 
 

33. At the heart of the council’s four year Business Plan (2013-17) is a vision to 
create stronger and more resilient communities. Key priorities are to continue 
to protect the most vulnerable in our communities, boost the local economy; 
creating and safeguarding jobs, and encourage communities to come 
together and provide support so that they can do more for themselves.  
 

34. The plan also includes a commitment to continue to address unprecedented 
financial pressures against a backdrop of reduced government funding and 
increased demand for service provision, particularly for those who are most 
vulnerable in our communities. This requires tough decisions and in February 
2013 the Wiltshire Council Financial Plan, reduced spending across the 
integrated youth service by £250,000 per annum. The target reduction in 
2014/15 budget year is £500,000.   

Page 33



 

 

Early Help 
 

35. To help manage increased service expectations on children’s safeguarding 
and social care (e.g. Munro review of child protection (May 2011) and new 
Ofsted framework for the inspection of children’s services (November 2013)) 
the Wiltshire Children and Young People’s Trust and Safeguarding Children’s 
Board has developed an Early Help Strategy. This seeks to improve 
outcomes for children, young people and families by providing the right help 
as soon as it is needed. To deliver this strategy the council needs to re-focus 
its youth services so that young people in most need of support can access 
and are provided with help before problems escalate and reach crisis point. 

 

Main Considerations for the Council 
 
36. Cabinet members are invited to consider the following options for the future 

provision of positive leisure-time activities for young people: 
 

a) Retain the current in-house service but reduce value. 
b) Outsource the service. 
c) Encourage and support staff to form a Public Service Mutual. 
d) Develop a community led approach. 

 

37. In order to ensure compliance with the Public Sector Equality Duty councillors 
must consider the equalities issues and impacts associated with each of the 
options set out within this report. It is strongly advised that councillors read 
the Equalities Impact Assessment prior to the meeting (Appendix 1). 
 

38. To ensure compliance with statutory guidance and the council’s Human 
Resources policy, consultation with young people, affected staff and other key 
stakeholders will be required on each of the four options to inform the 
decision making process.  

 
39. Consultation with affected staff will commence following cabinet approval and 

will involve them being formally placed at risk of potential redundancy. Shortly 
afterwards a ten week consultation will be initiated with young people and the 
voluntary/community sector. Robust scrutiny of the proposals will also take 
place via the Children’s Select Committee.  

 

40. Each of the options has been evaluated by assessing their advantages and 
disadvantages, including an analysis of their equalities impact. Particular 
consideration has been given to the options in terms of their ability to support 
the principles of quality, sustainability, staff empowerment, voice of young 
people, localism, partnership working and the drivers for change and review 
of youth services. Cabinet members are advised to provisionally select the 
option that: 

 

a) Responds to the modern lives of young people and is shaped by their 
views. 

b) Enables the council to meet its legal duties. 
c) Is aligned to the council’s vision and community campus developments. 

Page 34



 

d) Is sustainable, ensuring that help, support and resource is provided to the 
young people who need it most, helping the council to manage increasing 
demand on children’s social care. 

 
Appraising options 
 
Option A – Retain the current in-house service but reduce value 

 

41. The current Integrated Youth Service budget for youth work would be reduced 
to achieve the budget reduction, prompting a staff restructure, which would 
result in a significant reduction in staff posts. An internal restructuring option 
could be to develop four hubs covering North, South, East and West (with the 
option of an additional rural hub covering Mere and Tisbury). Each hub would 
be comprised of one full-time youth work team leader and two full-time youth 
development workers.  

 
42. The hubs would take on a developmental role in the delivery of local positive 

leisure-time activities. This would involve enabling and supporting local 
voluntary/community sector clubs and projects (e.g. training, supervision etc). 
Hubs would continue to deliver some positive leisure-time activities provision 
targeted at vulnerable groups and would be ambassadors of good youth work 
practice. Voluntary/community sector youth groups would be invited to join 
local hubs and supported to meet specific quality standards. Members of the 
hubs would have access to a small fund to help cover basic running costs.  

 
43. Strengths of this option are that it enables the current service to continue but 

on a reduced scale. To a degree it would retain the knowledge and skills of 
the existing workforce. However, the capacity of the service would be greatly 
reduced and making the required savings would prove very difficult, 
particularly when taking into account the terms and conditions of existing 
staff. It is likely that such a model would be unsustainable in the longer term 
and it would prove to be a challenge to respond to any further reductions in 
income in the future.  

 
Equalities Impact 

 

44. The knowledge and understanding of the needs of the youth work team client 
base by current staff would continue with this model, thus ensuring a greater 
probability of meeting the different needs of young people and reducing the 
likelihood of discrimination or barriers to service. 
 

45. The additional working with the community and voluntary sector may present 
an opportunity to engage with organisations who can provide specialist 
support and knowledge – and may potentially extend the connections with 
young people from ‘hard to hear’ groups who do not currently access any 
positive leisure-time activities. 

 
46. There may be an impact on some young people living in the more rural areas 

of the county without good public transport links/access to a household car as 
hubs are created concentrating on the main urban areas of Wiltshire. 

 

Page 35



 

47. If this option was selected; the human resources impact would need to 
reviewed in line with service requirements and the Equality Impact 
Assessment 

 
Option B – Outsource the service 

 

48. This option would involve developing a new service specification for the 
provision of positive leisure-time activities. This would be shaped by key 
stakeholders, including young people and would be based on the resources 
available. An open and competitive tendering exercise would be used to 
identify and select a preferred provider. However, there would be the option to 
select a number of providers to deliver in different parts of the county. 
 

49. The contract(s) with the provider(s) would be managed by commissioners and 
there would be the option to use a payment by results finance model. As part 
of the contract the council could offer the provider free space within 
campuses or other suitable buildings.    

 
50. Strengths of this option are that it would enhance the role of the voluntary, 

community and private sector in the provision of services and activities for 
young people. A contract commitment of at least three years may also bring 
some stability and continuity of service to young people and other 
stakeholders. Staff redundancies might also be minimised through transfer of 
undertakings (TUPE). Securing one overall provider to cover the whole 
county would be unlikely however, resulting in multiple contracts which could 
prove difficult to manage. New providers may also lack local knowledge and 
may not have the infrastructure in place to deliver provision to a satisfactory 
standard in rural areas, concentrating instead on urban towns.  

 

Equalities Impact 
 

51. It is difficult to determine the exact equalities impacts with this option as the 
range and level of impacts would depend on the scope of the contract and the 
model of delivery that is applied.  
 

52. There could be a reduction in service provision through the contract (due to 
funding constraints), which potentially could impact on the geographical reach 
of positive leisure-time activities impacting on those young people living in the 
more rural areas of the county and with poor public transport/lack of 
household access to a car. 

 
53. The service specification would need to have clear performance outcomes 

relating to equality to be able to monitor take up, satisfaction and access to 
services by different protected characteristic groups. 

 
54. A future contractor(s) would also have to consider its responsibilities under 

the Public Sector Equality Duty in relation to its workforce and this would also 
have to be monitored through the contract review/quality assurance process.  

 
55. The human resources impact on existing youth work team staff would be 

lower than the community led approach described below but these would 

Page 36



 

have to be carefully considered within any Equality Impact Assessment 
process. 
 

Option C – Encourage and support staff to form a Public Service Mutual 
 

56. A mutual is an organisation that has spun out of the public sector and 
continues to deliver a public service involving a high degree of employee 
control. It can take a range of forms such as for profit, not for profit, charity, 
social enterprise and community interest company. The Cabinet Office is 
advocating the development of mutual’s at present and has established a 
Mutuals Information Service. 
 

57. A service specification and contract would be developed between the council 
and the mutual, shaped by key stakeholders and managed by 
commissioners. Free space within campuses or other suitable buildings for 
youth activities could be made available to the new organisation. A payment 
by results funding system could be used where payments are made to the 
mutual based on the outcomes achieved. 

 
58. Key strengths of this option are that it would empower existing staff to take 

ownership and respond to the key challenges. It would also retain the 
knowledge and skills of the existing workforce and help to minimise 
redundancies. However, strong commitment from staff would be needed, and 
it may prove difficult to provide the savings needed within the required 
timescales due to the complexities involved in establishing a new 
organisation. A new start up company may also be at risk of failure within its 
first year.  

 

Equalities Impact 
 

59. It is difficult to determine the exact equalities impacts with this option as the 
range and level of impacts would depend on the scope of the contract and the 
model of delivery that is applied.  
 

60. The knowledge and understanding of the needs of the council’s youth work 
team client base by current staff would continue into the mutual, thus 
ensuring a greater probability of meeting the different needs of young people 
and reducing the likelihood of discrimination or barriers to service.  

 
61. The numbers of existing youth work team staff affected by this proposal in 

terms of redundancy could be less than other options. 
 

62. Any contract would need to fully reflect and monitor the application of the 
Public Sector Equality Duty for the council to be confident that the duty is 
being met. 
 

Option D – Develop a community led approach 
 

63. To empower communities via community area boards with funding from the 
council to develop and make available positive leisure-time activities within 
their local area. Under this model community areas would have an annual 
budget for positive activities, and would consult closely with young people 

Page 37



 

(including via Youth Advisory Groups) to identify local needs and priorities 
and decide how this resource is best deployed. This approach would seek to 
build on the range of activities and partnerships that already operate at this 
level and would involve the council moving from being the service provider to 
an enabler role. 
 

64. The budget for each community area could be set and distributed using the 
existing youth work or area board funding formula to ensure that resource is 
allocated fairly according to local need, taking into account factors such as 
population, deprivation and sparsity. Funding in the form of grants would 
create potential opportunities for individuals and small community led groups 
(including parents/carers) to set up new youth projects, as well as promote 
improved partnership working between existing youth activity providers. 
Volunteering opportunities for individuals and groups within communities may 
also be enhanced.  

 
65. To enable community areas to take on this responsibility area boards would 

establish a specific sub group which would oversee the development and 
provision of positive leisure-time activities. This would facilitate the 
engagement of local voluntary/community sector groups and other key 
stakeholders, including young people and partner agencies such as the 
police, fire and rescue service. The group would be based on the model used 
for Community Area Transport Groups (CATGs) and could make 
recommendations to the area board, as appropriate. The group could also 
monitor local provision.  

 
66. To support implementation, the area boards would be allocated professional 

help, advice and support (an enabling role) from Wiltshire Council employed 
community development youth advisers (new posts). These staff would work 
collaboratively with the voluntary and community sector to assist area boards 
in the provision of positive leisure-time activities which meet young people’s 
needs. Staff would have a key focus on quality assurance, including a strong 
emphasis on safeguarding.  

 
67. The council’s sports development officers, who engage with sports clubs, 

community groups and area boards would also provide additional support 
where relevant, to sport and physical activity. The community development 
youth adviser posts would be reviewed while a community led approach and 
processes are embedded within local areas. 

 
68. Taking into account the council’s important role in safeguarding a quality mark 

scheme would be developed for community providers of positive leisure-time 
activities. This would be managed by the council with support from corporate 
procurement to administer an accredited list of approved providers which 
community areas would be advised to use locally. 

 
69. It is important that young people are involved in decision-making about local 

provision. With a community led approach it is proposed that Youth Advisory 
Groups (YAGs) are coordinated differently, with several youth participation 
events or workshops taking place in each community area on an annual 
basis.  

 

Page 38



 

70. YAGs would be based on events that are currently used to engage members 
of the public in the Joint Strategic Assessment and would encourage young 
people from across the community to come together within a forum to discuss 
local issues and shape services and activities which affect them. It is 
suggested that in developing a community led approach young people would 
lead the transformation of YAGs, along with a significant contribution from the 
voluntary/community sector. 

 
71. In moving toward a community led approach the council would strengthen 

safeguarding arrangements for the most vulnerable young people by re-
investing resource into early help and targeted support provided by eight new 
full-time youth support worker posts. These staff would work closely with 
communities and would also coordinate the delivery of targeted positive 
leisure-time activities for young people with learning difficulties and 
disabilities. 

 
72. As part of this model the council would continue to fund Sparksite, which 

provides information to young people about local opportunities and positive 
leisure-time activities. ‘The Line’ service would also continue to provide 
confidential information and support to young people via phone and online. 

 
73. Strengths of this option are that it gives communities, and young people a 

much greater say on local provision, enabling them to develop innovative and 
community based approaches which respond to local needs. It also 
complements campus developments, and safeguarding for the most 
vulnerable young people would be strengthened through a stronger early help 
offer. The scheme however, is potentially complex to administer and there 
could be issues with ensuring a consistent minimum offer to young people 
across the county. Evidencing impact may also prove challenging and there 
would be staff redundancies.  

 

Equalities Impact 
 

74. Community area boards are an executive arm of the council and would need 
to comply with the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED). There would need to 
be clear monitoring arrangements in place to ensure that the PSED is being 
met; any quality assurance framework would need to integrate equalities 
performance outcomes/criteria and these would need to be built into any 
review process. This would demonstrate what funding is being allocated to 
the range of opportunities being offered, take up and satisfaction of provision. 
It would also evidence the involvement and engagement of young people in 
the development of positive leisure-time activities by protected characteristic 
groups for example. 
 

75. The model could potentially advance equality of opportunity and foster good 
relations due to the intergenerational elements – i.e. younger/older people 
and those from different backgrounds working together through the area 
board. In addition, the model presents an opportunity to ensure the views 
from a more diverse range of young people are heard in decisions that could 
affect them and be innovative in meeting the needs of more ‘hard to 
hear’/vulnerable groups of young people. 

 

Page 39



 

76. Although this model would build on a current scheme of delegation of funding 
to area boards for youth projects, there needs to be consideration of the 
capability of the area boards to deliver this model, in particular their 
understanding around the consistency and practical application of the PSED 
to ensure equality of access and inclusion. 

 
77. There would be significant human resources impacts in this proposal 

regarding the numbers of existing youth work team staff affected by possible 
redundancy. This would need to be fully projected and analysed through the 
Equality Impact Assessment process. When looking at the make-up of the 
current service in terms of gender, the workforce data collected suggests it is 
likely that redundancies would affect women more than men. 

 

Provisional recommendation – making the case for a community led approach 
 

78. Following careful assessment of the options it is recommended that cabinet 
members provisionally approve the development of a community led 
approach (option D), subject to formal consultation with young people, staff 
and other key stakeholders to inform the decision making process. A visual 
representation of a community led model is included as Appendix 5. 
 

79.  A community led approach responds to the views of young people from prior 
consultation, giving them a greater influence in shaping positive leisure-time 
activities within their local area. This will help to ensure that local provision is 
responsive to the modern lives, needs and views of the younger generation. 

 
80. The model further enhances the role of area boards and Youth Advisory 

Groups to develop innovative and community-led approaches to designing 
and delivering services, which is a key action within the council’s Business 
Plan. The approach empowers communities by shifting the council’s role from 
a provider to an enabler and builds on the council’s tried and tested initiative 
of devolving funding to community area boards for youth projects.  

 
81. The approach supports the council’s overall direction of travel, which involves 

moving towards a delivery approach which maximises investment in 
community campuses.  

 
82. Devolving resource to community areas will create enhanced opportunities for 

the voluntary/community sector, particularly social enterprise. This is likely to 
encourage the development of a wider variety of positive leisure-time 
activities for young people, as well as offer increased local volunteering 
opportunities.  

 
83. The approach facilitates improved joint working across the council (such as 

children’s services and leisure) and brings together a coherent overall youth 
offer, which provides choice to young people and meets their needs. A wider 
range of activities at local level is likely to have a positive effect on the public 
health of the 13-19 years population. 

 
84. The model places the provision of positive leisure-time activities on a more 

sustainable footing for future years and re-investment in early help will 
support the council to better manage demand on social care, making sure 

Page 40



 

that help, support and resource is targeted on the young people who need it 
most.  

 
Impact of a community led approach 
 
85. The shift to a community led model will mean that 50.3 FTE (full-time 

equivalent) posts in the current integrated youth service could be made 
redundant (this will affect approximately 144 staff). There will be some 
redeployment opportunities available and it will be important for cabinet 
members to understand the impact of these redundancies in relation to staff 
from protected characteristic groups. This information will be captured in the 
Equalities Impact Assessment.  
 

86. The model will involve the creation of several new posts which are outlined 
below. The experience of the existing sports development officers within 
leisure services will provide additional support to these new roles and the 
Youth Advisory Groups and as appropriate to sport and physical activity. 

 
a) Youth Support Worker (8 full-time posts, 2 per existing children’s services 

locality) – the purpose of these posts is to strengthen local safeguarding 
arrangements by providing early help to the most vulnerable young 
people. These staff will also coordinate the delivery of targeted youth 
activities for young people with learning difficulties and disabilities.  
 

b) Community Development Youth Advisers (4 part-time posts) will provide 
professional advice and support (enabling function) to the area boards and 
home-grown youth groups, as well as providing practical capacity on the 
ground to help young people have a voice in local decision making. This 
will include work with area boards to support the development of Youth 
Advisory Groups [these posts will be subject to ongoing review]. Advisers 
will target support to area boards in most need of assistance. 
 

87. Some staff affected by redundancy could be reemployed by town/parish 
councils or voluntary/community based organisations. There might be others 
who decide to setup their own business on a self-employed basis or as a 
social enterprise, trading their services to community area boards. Help for 
those staff who are interested in setting up their own business will be 
available from the Wiltshire Business Support Service. 

 
Implementation 

 
88. Development of proposals will be led by Children’s Services who will manage 

the staffing issues, working closely with relevant stakeholders across the 
council. The Youth Services Project Management Group will oversee the 
consultation and implementation process (Appendix 6). 

 
89. Following cabinet’s decision on a provisional recommendation officers will 

commence formal consultation on all four options with affected staff, young 
people and the voluntary/community sector and will also initiate full scrutiny of 
the proposals via the Children’s Select Committee. The Equality Impact 
Assessment will be updated throughout this process.  

 

Page 41



 

 
90. The council’s communications team will manage the internal and external 

communications and a communications plan has been developed which 
includes key messages the proposed consultees.  

 
91. Consultation with young people will be led by the council’s voice and 

influence team. To ensure broad reach of consultation and the inclusion of a 
wide range of young people, a strategy has been developed with a number of 
different engagement opportunities. The basis of which includes:  

 
a) A consultation and engagement homepage on www.sparksite.co.uk which 

outlines the changes, houses key documents and will have video 
snapshots of young people stating the four options. The link to the SNAP 
survey will also be housed here. 

b) An online SNAP survey which will be accessed via www.sparksite.co.uk. 
The link will be promoted on all twitter sites and young people’s social 
network sites. 

c) Direct texting to over 19,000 young people sharing the link for the 
consultation homepage, stating that changes are going to be made to how 
we provide positive activities for young people in Wiltshire and asking 
them to have their say. 

d) A focus group consultation will be developed and this will be taken out to 
all representative groups such as Wiltshire Assembly of Youth, Children in 
Care Council, BoBs and GoGs (Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender 
youth groups) and Wiltshire Youth Disabled Group. It will also be adapted 
and taken into special schools and offered to Youth Advisory Groups, 
school councils and voluntary sector groups. The focus group sessions 
will be delivered by members of the Voice and Influence Team. 

e) One to one structured discussions with young people at various locations 
around Wiltshire. This would include some youth centres, sports clubs, 
leisure centres and voluntary sector groups e.g. scouts and air cadets. 

f) Links for the survey will be sent out to all secondary schools and 
information will be included on Wisenet. All secondary schools will be 
contacted and offered the opportunity to engage in the consultation in a 
range of ways, from signposting their students to the survey, to focus 
groups and assemblies. 
 

92. During the formal consultation process there will be the opportunity for 
stakeholders to present alternative options. These and the views of young 
people and other interested parties will be taken into account during the 
process.  
 

93. Once the consultation has been completed, officers will present a final report 
to cabinet in April 2014 providing an analysis of stakeholder feedback along 
with a final recommendation. The Equality Impact Assessment will be 
updated with all consultation feedback and will be attached to the final cabinet 
report to inform decision making and ensure compliance with the Public 
Sector Equality Duty. It is anticipated that a new model of delivery will be in 
place by September 2014. 

 
 
 

Page 42



 

 
Relevance to the Council’s Business Plan 
 
94. The provisional recommendation to develop a community led approach 

supports the council’s vision to create stronger and more resilient 
communities. The proposal strengthens support for the most vulnerable in our 
communities and encourages people to come together so they can do more 
for themselves.  
 

95. The proposal supports delivery of the following key actions: 
 

a) Further enhance the role of area boards and Youth Advisory Groups, 
developing innovative and community-led approaches to designing and 
delivering services; 

b) Continue to improve our safeguarding services to protect the most 
vulnerable in our communities; 

c) Provide opportunities for every child and young person to improve their 
attainment and skills so they can achieve their full potential; 

d) Create a campus opportunity in each community area. 
 

Safeguarding Implications 
 
96. It will be important to ensure that vulnerable young people within communities 

continue to be identified so that they can receive the right support as soon as 
problem first arise, before things reach crisis point. The re-investment in eight 
full-time equivalent youth support worker posts will provide improved early 
help and targeted support to young people in most need. This will help them 
and their families to build resilience, overcome barriers, reduce risky 
behaviours and improve outcomes. Staff will work closely in partnership with 
universal services, including local providers of positive leisure-time activities. 
 

97. Positive activity providers will need to ensure appropriate, accessible 
environments for young people and keep them safe from harm. As part of the 
community led approach community development youth advisors will work 
alongside relevant colleagues and the voluntary/community sector to help 
embed robust safeguarding arrangements within community areas by: 

 
a) Supporting and skilling up area boards to develop robust processes for 

developing educational and recreational leisure-time activities. This will 
include setting out a framework which defines best practice. 

b) Working with existing voluntary/community sector infrastructure (e.g. 
Develop) to offer professional advice and support to voluntary and 
community groups on a range of subject areas, with a strong focus on 
safeguarding e.g. training covering health & safety, managing risky 
behaviours, child protection, safe recruitment of staff and volunteers etc. 

c) Promoting and supporting the establishment of a clear early help pathway 
for vulnerable young people between universal and targeted/specialist 
services within localities. 

d) Work with the council’s corporate procurement team to develop and 
administer a quality mark scheme across the county for providers of 
positive leisure-time activities. Through an accreditation exercise led by 
the council, providers will need to meet certain criteria (e.g. robust child 

Page 43



 

protection policy in place etc) in order to achieve the quality mark. 
Community areas will be advised to use those providers who are on the 
accredited provider list. 

e) In the transition to a new model of delivery it will be necessary to ensure 
that any vulnerable young people which are currently being supported by 
youth work staff are identified and case loaded to the new youth support 
workers or other suitable professionals within integrated youth and 
preventative services.  

 
Public Health Implications 
 
98. The provision of positive leisure-time activities within community areas is 

likely to have a positive impact on the health and wellbeing of the local youth 
population. A community led approach will engage communities in the 
development of a range of educational and recreational activities which are 
focused on improving young people’s health and well-being.  
 

99. Health inequalities often arise as a result of the unequal distribution of the 
determinates of health, such as socio-economic status. We know that such 
inequalities can arise early in life as evidenced by variations in health and 
social outcomes such as levels of childhood obesity and variations in 
educational attainment. Positive leisure-time activities within community areas 
could support reduction in such inequalities if activities were targeted 
appropriately and informed by local Joint Strategic Assessments. 
Consideration for how this would be managed within the proposed operating 
model will require consideration as work progresses. Such an approach 
would ensure that those young people at greatest risk of poorer health 
outcomes are able to access services to improve their health and wellbeing 
and would support activity to mitigate the impacts of child poverty.   

 
Environmental and Climate Change Considerations  
 
100. There are no particular impacts of this work on environmental and climate 

change issues. It may be the case that more localised provision may result in 
fewer journeys being made by council staff and members of the public.  

 
Equalities Impact of the Proposal 
 
101. In order to comply with the Public Sector Equality Duty under Section 149 

of the Equality Act 2010 all councillors must consider the equality issues and 
impacts of proposals as part of the decision making process. An analysis of 
the equality issues and impacts of the various options for the future provision 
of positive leisure-time activities are included in this report. In addition an 
initial but detailed Equality Impact Assessment has been developed 
(Appendix 1). This is a working document and will be reviewed and updated 
on a regular basis, taking account of progress and feedback from 
stakeholders.  

 
102. The council’s equalities officer is leading on the equalities impact 

assessment process in close liaison with Councillor Allison Bucknell (Portfolio 
Holder for Staffing Equalities, Customer Care and Systems Thinking). 
Councillor Bucknell is a member of the project management group and 

Page 44



 

equalities is a key workstream which is integrated into all other aspects of the 
overall project. 

 
103. It is strongly advised that all councillors read the Equalities Impact 

Assessment prior to the meeting as well as taking note of the equality 
considerations set out in this paper to inform discussions and the decision 
making process. 

 
Risk Assessment 
 
104. A risk register has been developed and will be maintained by the project 

management group. Key risks are raised and discussed at meetings of the 
group and any significant risks identified would follow corporate guidelines in 
being escalated. A risk register is attached with this report (Appendix 2) and 
councillors are strongly advised to consider these risks and mitigating actions 
before making a decision.  

 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision and related work is not taken 
 
105. The current model for meeting the council’s statutory duty may not 

continue to meet the needs of young people, leading to disengagement and 
poorer outcomes.  
 

106. The budget reduction identified within the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
for integrated youth services would not be achieved. 

 
107. The council’s vision and priority to support and empower communities to 

do more for themselves is not fully realised - particularly the key action to 
further enhance the role of area boards and Youth Advisory Groups, 
developing innovative and community led approaches to developing and 
delivering services. 

 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision is taken and actions that will 
be taken to manage these risks 

 
108. Risks associated with the provisional recommendation are detailed within 

the attached risk register.  
 
Financial Implications 
 
109. The current integrated youth services revenue budget allocated to 

supporting the council to meet its 507B statutory duty is £1,343,400 per 
annum.  
 

110. The full year impact of the shift to a community led approach would reduce 
the budget to £842,600 in 2014/15, providing full year savings of £500,800. 
The staff and public consultations will take place from January/February and 
the length of time these take will depend on the responses received and any 
alternative options which might require consideration. Following this variable 
timetable, the implementation date is likely to be between July and 
September 2014. This means the pro-rata saving for 2014/15 would be 

Page 45



 

between £360,000 and £250,000, and the £500,000 savings target would not 
be achieved in year one. This has already been noted by cabinet members. 

 

111. If the community led option were selected, the indicative budget would be 
as follows; £437,100 per year would be allocated to community area boards 
(pro rata equivalent in 2014/15) for the provision of positive leisure-time 
activities. This would be in addition to the £100,000 per year that area boards 
already receive for youth projects through the area board base budget. 
Further information on the proposed 2014/15 budget for principally meeting 
the council’s 507B duty is included in Appendix 7. The funding to community 
areas for the provision of positive leisure-time activities would be made 
available for the lifetime of this council.  

 
112. With a community led approach a decision would be required on how 

funding is deployed in a fair and equitable way to community areas (taking 
account of key factors like population, deprivation and sparsity). Current 
options available include the youth work or area board funding formulas. To 
help determine a suitable method for the distribution of funding at a local level 
it will be important to agree outcomes for a community led approach in the 
first instance. This work will be undertaken by officers in due course and a 
recommendation will be made to cabinet as and when required. Further to 
this a decision will be required as to whether or not funding to area boards is 
ring-fenced for positive leisure-time activities. 

 
113. The shift to a community led approach may enable area boards and local 

youth groups to attract additional funding from a range of other sources to 
support youth based projects and activities, bringing additional investment 
into Wiltshire.  

 

114. The council’s shift to an enabling role rather than a direct provider of 
positive leisure-time activities and a significant reduction in staff posts is likely 
to stimulate a wider review of the integrated youth and preventative service, 
which may provide further synergies (and possible savings) in future years. 

 

Legal Implications 
 

115. The proposal set out in this paper is subject to various legislative 
provisions, namely 507B of the Education Act 1996 and the Equality Act 2010 
(Public Sector Equality Duty). The proposal is influenced by the findings of the 
recent Court of Appeal Judgement [Hunt, R (on the application of) v North 
Somerset Council, 2013) which ruled that North Somerset Council had acted 
unlawfully when making a reduction in funding to youth services. It will be vital 
that Wiltshire Council learns from the findings of the Judgement.  The legal 
risks to the council associated with the proposal will be minimised through the 
use of internal legal advice (and external where appropriate) and effective 
monitoring and influence from legal services. 
 

116. Appropriate application of the Transfer of Undertaking (Protection of 
Employment) Regulations 2006 in relation to staffing matters and information 
disclosure facilitating a transfer will be progressed by Human Resources 
together with on-going support provided by Legal services.  

 

Page 46



 

 

 
Options Considered 

 

117. Four key options have been identified and outlined within this report to 
enable the council to continue to meet its 507B statutory duty, including a 
provisional recommendation to develop a community led approach, subject to 
formal consultation with young people, affected staff and other key 
stakeholders to inform the decision making process. Stakeholders will be 
consulted on all four options and will have the opportunity to present 
alternatives. These and their views will be taken into account during the 
decision making process. 

 

Conclusions 
 

118. Cabinet is asked to consider the four options detailed within this report 
and approve the provisional recommendation to develop and implement a 
community led approach, subject to formal consultation with young people, 
affected staff and other key stakeholders to inform the decision making 
process. 
 

119. In making their decision cabinet members are strongly advised to consider 
the equalities impact of each option and the need to fulfil the council’s Public 
Sector Equality Duty. The risks associated with the proposal should also be 
considered as part of the decision making process. 

 
120. Cabinet is asked to consider a further report which provides feedback from 

the stakeholder consultation, as well as a final recommendation from officers 
in April 2014.  

 
Name of Director    Terence Herbert                     Carolyn Godfrey 
Designation  Associate Director                 Corporate Director 
 

 
Report Author: Mal Munday, Head of Service Integrated Youth & Preventative 
Services Mal.Munday@Wiltshire.gov.uk 01225 713754; James Fortune, Lead 
Commissioner James.Fortune@Wiltshire.gov.uk 01225 713341 
 
20 December 2013 
 
 
Appendices (links to PDFs on Wiltshire Council website) 
 
1. Equalities Impact Assessment 
2. Risk Register 
3. Statutory Guidance 
4. Buildings 
5. Community led approach visual 
6. Provisional Implementation Plan 
7. Indicative Budget if Community Led Option chosen 
 
 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 48



 

 

 

Appendix 2 
 

Option D+   An indicative youth service model  
 

Officers have confirmed that the model and staffing structure is deliverable and that 

the costings set out in the budget table below are realistic. 

 

Staffing 

 

• 5 x Youth Support Workers (5 FTE) 

As proposed under Option D in the Cabinet report, these would strengthen 

local safeguarding arrangements by providing early help to the most 

vulnerable young people and coordinating the delivery of targeted youth 

activities for young people with learning difficulties and disabilities.  

 

• 20 x Community Youth Workers (20 FTE)  

(including 3 x Team Leaders) 

Every community area to retain a named full-time Community Youth Worker 

whose role could include: 

 

− Budget management, commissioning appropriate activities for young 

people from VCS youth groups 

− Supporting and advising area boards to commission appropriate activities 

for young people using their devolved grant allocations (see Strategic 

oversight below) 

− Supporting and advising local VCS youth groups on the delivery of positive 

activities for young people 

− Some direct delivery of youth work and activities for young people 

− Management of Apprentice Youth Workers (see below) 

 

NB. Although each community area would retain a named youth worker, they 

would be deployed flexibly across multiple community areas as necessary. 

 

3 x Team Leaders (3 FTE) 

The twenty Community Youth Workers could include three Team Leader  

roles, each overseeing a cluster of community areas and providing cross-

community area leadership and oversight. This would be a senior position 

suitable for more experienced and qualified youth workers. Their role could 

include: 

 

− Leadership and management of Community Youth Workers 

− Cross-county liaison with other Team Leaders to enable strategic oversight 

and the sharing of best practice 

 

Page 49



 

 

 

• 9 x Youth Work Apprentices (9 FTE) 

The council could create Youth Work Apprentices representing added youth 

work resource and important employment and training opportunities for young 

people. The apprentices could focus on delivering hands-on youth work and 

activities, and could be deployed flexibly across the community areas as and 

when required. Making these fixed term positions would ensure a regular 

through-flow of new candidates.  

 

Introducing three apprenticeships per year, over three years, would avoid 

having nine inexperienced youth workers all beginning at once. It would also 

phase in the cost of the new positions, and the funding available in the first and 

second tranches could be used in other areas to smooth the transition into the 

new service model. An example for its use could be the Duke of Edinburgh 

project, which is intended to become self-funding. 

 

• 48 x hours admin support per week (16 hours per Team Leader) 

Admin support could be provided by expanding existing admin support teams 

within the council (such as Transformation or Communities), increasing the 

efficiency of the current arrangement in which administrators attached to 

specific youth development hubs each work a relatively small number of hours 

per week.  

 

Strategic oversight 

 

• As proposed in Option D, each area board could establish a sub-group based 

on the model currently used for Community Area Transport Groups (CAT-Gs), 

to oversee the development and provision of positive activities for young 

people in their community area.   

 

These Community Area Youth Activities Groups (CAYAGs) could control 

50% of the funding released to community level through savings achieved in 

the proposed structure, with Community Youth Workers managing the other 

50% directly. This would enable the Community Youth Workers to both 

undertake and support VCS groups to deliver ongoing open access youth 

work. Community Youth Workers would be expected to report back to the 

CAYAG on how their discretionary budget had been utilised. 

 

To ensure an appropriate range of provision for young people, CAYAGs 

would receive professional support and advice from their named Community 

Youth Worker when spending their percentage of the allocated youth activity 

budgets. 

 

Page 50



 

 

 

• To benefit from local knowledge and promote cross-agency working, the 

CAYAGs would include appropriate representatives from the community, 

such as secondary schools, the Police, local businesses, YAGs, the armed 

forces and existing VCS youth providers, as well as elected members 

 

• In addition to the eighteen area board sub-groups, a county-wide umbrella 

CAYAG could be established to share best practice and consider the wider 

youth strategy and larger scale funding opportunities.  

 

Further savings 

 

• A further saving of £20,000 could be found by reducing the current Sparksite 

budget from £65,000 to £45,000. This budget comprises the Sparksite 

website, which provides information to young people about local opportunities 

and activities, and Spark Radio, a radio station run by young people with 

SEND. 

 

The majority of witnesses questioned – including most importantly, young 

people – reported that they had heard of Sparksite but did not use it on a 

regular basis and several described it as being very difficult to use. The site 

received 46,000 visits in 2013 representing a cost of £1.41 per visit. There is 

no data demonstrating who these visits are from, whether they are repeat 

visits and whether they are from young people accessing other parts of the 

youth service. It is also notable that there was a spike in use at the time of the 

Wiltshire Assembly of Youth (WAY) elections, possibly suggesting that 

average usage levels are even lower. However, there is a need for youth 

communications and a reduced Sparksite resource would remain (£45,000), 

supplemented by support from the wider communications team.  

 

Spark Radio would also continue to be resourced using the remaining 

£45,000 budget. 

 

• A further £20,000 of savings could be found through the removal of ‘The Line’; 

a phone and web-based service providing confidential advice and support for 

young people. The task group understands that there are national alternatives 

to this service such as ‘ChildLine’.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 51



 

 

 

Indicative budget for Option D+ 

 

 
Each Amount 

Total full year budget in scope  
 

£1,146,900 

Sparksite budget (including Spark radio) 
 

£65,000 

  
£1,211,900 

   
Costs (staffing figures are gross) 

  

5 x Youth Support Workers  £35,900 £179,500 

17 x Community Youth Workers £25,000 £425,000 

3 x Team Leader Community Youth Workers £44,300 £132,900 

9 x Apprentice Youth Workers  £15,000 £135,000 

Admin  (16 hours per week for each Team Leader)  
 

£24,400 

Bridging Project (full budget retained) 
 

£25,000 

Sparksite  (£20k removed from current £65k budget) 
 

£45,000 

  
£966,800 

   
Savings 

  
The Line (cease the service as there are national 
alternatives)  

(£20,000) 

Extra funding already allocated to area boards for 
youth activities  

(£100,000) 

  
(£120,000) 

   
Total internal cost of the proposed youth 
service 

  £846,800 

Allocated to area boards for the provision of 
positive leisure-time activities for young 
people 

  £365,100 

 

 

 

Page 52



Appendix 3 

Thresholds for Safeguarding document produced by WSCB and  the Children’s Trust 

 

 

P
age 53



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 54


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Final Report of the Positive Leisure-time Activities for Young People Task Group
	Appendix 1 - CabinetReportYouthServicesReviewofPositiveLeisureTimeActivitiesforyoungpeopleFinal
	Appendix 2 - Option D+  Indicative youth service model
	Appendix 3 - Dashboard Thresholds for Safeguarding


